#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC11-949**

JOEL DIAZ,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel– Southern Region

**ROSEANNE ECKERT Assistant CCRC-South** 

ANNA-LIISA NIXON Staff Attorney

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR MR. DIAZ

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In this case, there was a nine-to-three vote on the advisory sentence and substantial mitigation, including the finding that the murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance, the age of the defendant at the time of the offense, and the defendant's lack of a significant history of prior criminal activity. . . Consequently, I believe that striking the HAC aggravator alone requires that we reverse Diaz's sentence and remand for a new penalty phase.

Diaz v. State, 860 So. 2d 960, 972 (Fla. 2003) (Pariente, J., dissenting).

Joel Diaz is mentally retarded; central to his defense at trial was that he could not form the heightened premeditation necessary to commit first-degree murder because he was insane at the time of the crime. Trial counsel never bothered to look at the prior attorney's file let alone conduct their own investigation into the circumstances of the crime or prepare a case for mitigation. As a result, trial counsel failed to present a cohesive defense that carried through to the penalty phase. From the very beginning, trial counsel missed opportunities to persuade the jury into accepting a mental health defense in mitigation of the death sentence. The failure to put together a defense theory supported by evidence was obvious as the trial progressed. The presentation of the insanity defense was a disaster.

The trial lawyers did no mitigation investigation—they did not gather records and they did not prepare a social history. Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510,

524-25 (2003). Consequently, they could only offer the testimony of Joel's younger sister, who told the jury the family grew up in low-income housing and that their father was a violent and abusive alcoholic and drug addict. From this, the trial court gleaned that while Mr. Diaz's "upbringing was less than idyllic," he knew the difference between right and wrong. (PCR. 13443). After finding both statutory and non-statutory mitigation, the trial court imposed the death penalty based on three aggravating factors, one of which was struck on direct appeal.

The result of Joel Diaz's penalty phase was not reliable because trial counsel failed to present information that was available at the time of trial including evidence of sexual abuse and evidence that Mr. Diaz had cognitive deficits that colored both how he perceived the world and the decisions that he made. "During the penalty phase, the jury heard very little that would humanize Mr. Diaz" and "the mitigation evidence presented in postconviction proceedings 'paints a vastly different picture of his background' than the picture painted at trial." Cooper v. Sec'y, Dept. of Corr., 646 F.3d 1328, 1355 (11th Cir. 2011). "While the jury heard a small sliver of his volatile upbringing," id., the jury never heard that he was seriously ill as a baby, that he was exposed to toxic pesticides as a toddler, or that he worked in the harsh conditions of farm work before reaching adolescence or that he was and is mentally retarded. But for counsel's inadequate performance, there is a reasonable probability that there would have been a different outcome.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Joel Diaz was indicted on November 18, 1997 in Lee County, Florida for attempted first-degree murder of his ex-girlfriend, Lissa Shaw, capital first-degree murder of her father, Charles Shaw, and aggravated assault on a neighbor. (R. 7-8).

On November 21, 1997, Dr. Paul Kling, psychologist, was appointed to evaluate Mr. Diaz for competency and sanity at the request of the Office of the Public Defender. (R. 11-12).

Subsequently, Mr. Diaz filed a *pro se* motion requesting a new lawyer and private attorney J. Franklin Porter<sup>1</sup> was appointed on January 29, 1999. (R. 23-24).

Porter filed a notice of intent to rely on the insanity defense. (R. 33). Thereafter, Drs. Bruce Crowell and Richard Keown were appointed to conduct mental health evaluations. (R. 45-47).

On May 16, 2000, private attorney Neil Potter was appointed by the trial court to assist Porter in the penalty phase. (R. 50).

The trial commenced on July 25, 2000 before the Honorable Thomas S. Reese during which Dr. Kling testified for the defense and Dr. Keown testified for the State. (R. 56). On July 28, 2000, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on all counts. (R. 55). Two and a half months later, the one-day penalty phase took

3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Hon. J. Franklin Porter was appointed as a county court judge in 2002 and in, January 2004, he was elevated to the circuit court bench. (Vol. 95, 323-26).

place on October 10, 2000 (R. 137), and the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of nine-three. (R. 138). Following a Spencer<sup>2</sup> hearing held on November 3, 2000, the trial court followed the jury's recommendation in sentencing Mr. Diaz to death on January 29, 2001. (R. 166-67).

On direct appeal, Mr. Diaz challenged the trial court's findings on the statutory aggravators of cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) and heinous, atrocious, and cruel (HAC). A majority of this Court agreed that the trial court erred in finding that the HAC aggravator applied in this case; however, there was sharp disagreement regarding both the analysis of the harmless error standard with respect to the death sentence as well as the application of CCP based on "transferred intent." *Diaz v. State*, 860 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 2003). Justice Pariente concurred in affirming the convictions but dissented in a written opinion, joined by former Justices Anstead and Shaw, as to the death sentence. Justice Pariente wrote

I do not agree that after striking the HAC aggravator, on which the jury was instructed and which the trial court found, this Court can state beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the imposition of the death penalty.

*Id.* at 972 (Pariente, J., dissenting). Justice Pariente also noted that under *Hess v*. *State*, 794 So. 2d 1249, 1266 (Fla. 2001), the prior violent felony aggravator in this case carries less weight. *Id.* at 1266, n. 10. After the completion of briefing on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688, 690-91 (Fla. 1993).

direct appeal before this Court, but before Mr. Diaz's death sentence became final, the United States Supreme Court decided the seminal case of *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). Mr. Diaz filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court challenging the convictions and death sentence. The petition was denied on April 26, 2004. *Diaz v. Florida*, 541 U.S. 1011 (2004).

Mr. Diaz timely filed his initial motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure Rule 3.851 along with a motion to interview jurors on April 15, 2005 (PCR. 354-457). Mr. Diaz alleged in Claim III that during the course of collateral litigation, he discovered that the foreperson of his jury, Sherri Smith Williams, Ph.D., a criminal law professor, failed to disclose critical background information during voir dire and that as a result, he was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to a fair and impartial jury under state and federal law. (PCR. 365-71). Professor Williams failed to disclose that she was arrested as the perpetrator of a domestic violence battery and that she completed her pre-trial diversion program just two months before being chosen to sit on Mr. Diaz's jury where she became the foreperson. (PCR. 367). Following a period of extensive litigation regarding public records, Mr. Diaz filed an amendment to the pending Rule 3.851 motion on July 20, 2009 in which he alleged that Professor Williams also failed to disclose that she was a certified domestic violence counselor. (PCR. 2778-2971). Mr. Diaz was never given an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

A case management conference was held and shortly thereafter, the circuit court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on the following claims: Amended Claim VI (trial counsel failed to ensure a fair and impartial jury); Claim VII (the guilty verdicts are unreliable due to ineffective assistance of counsel and state misconduct); Amended Claim X (ineffective assistance of counsel in the penalty phase); and Claim XII (non-statutory aggravators). (PCR. 3037-40). The juror misconduct claim was summarily denied. *Id*.

Mr. Diaz filed motions to disqualify Judge Reese and the Twentieth Judicial Circuit because both the lead defense counsel at trial as well as the lead prosecutor had been appointed to the bench. (PCR. 3041). This Court appointed the Honorable Judge Charles Roberts from Sarasota, Florida to preside over the litigation on December 4, 2009. (PCR. 3103).

During the time that Judge Roberts was reviewing the case history, postconviction counsel had Joel Diaz re-evaluated with the most recently published psychometric test for measuring IQ in preparation for the upcoming hearing. Based upon the low score obtained on the WAIS-IV (full scale IQ of 57), Mr. Diaz filed a motion for determination of mental retardation pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203 on May 12, 2010. (PCR. 3114-30). The court granted a hearing. (PCR. 3185).

Evidentiary proceedings were held on June 21-24, 2010 and September 20-24, 2010. In June, the circuit court heard testimony and evidence regarding the pretrial investigation and the trial itself.<sup>3</sup> In September, Mr. Diaz presented mental health professionals and lay witnesses to prove that Joel Diaz is mentally retarded and that there was substantial mitigation that was available at the time of trial that was never presented to the jury.<sup>4</sup> The State presented witnesses to rebut the diagnosis of mental retardation.<sup>5</sup> The parties were permitted to submit written closing arguments following the hearing; Mr. Diaz filed a Memorandum in Support of Rule 3.851 Motion (PCR. 13145-80) and Memorandum in Support of *Atkins* Claim (PCR. 13181-13216). On April 8, 2011, the circuit court entered two separate orders: (1) an Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief (PCR.

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The following witnesses were called by Mr. Diaz in June 2010: Kenneth Garber (former attorney); Robert Walker (crime scene technician); Richard Joslin (crime scene technician); Darren Esposito (FDLE serologist); Dr. Gary Litman (molecular geneticist); Jesus Cases (trial prosecutor); Hon. Maria Gonzalez (trial prosecutor); Hon. Frank Porter (defense counsel); Neil Potter (defense counsel); Dr. Paul Kling (trial psychologist); and Lucy Ortiz (L.C.S.W.). The State called: Donald Hutta (DOC); Dr. Bruce Crowell (court-appointed psychologist); and Dr. Richard Keown (State psychiatrist). (Vol. 93, 16; Vol. 96, 754).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The following witnesses were called by Mr. Diaz in September 2010: Anna Garcia (field worker, ethnographer); Dr. David Griffith (anthropologist); Minerva Diaz (sister); Melissa McKemy (Plourde)(friend); Luz Diaz (aunt); Dr. Antonio Puente (expert in mental retardation); Dr. Philip Harvey (neuropsychologist); Dr. Richard Dudley (psychiatrist). (Vol. 97, 9; Vol. 99, 587).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The State called: Brant Gederian (SAO investigator); Lissa Shaw (victim and exgirlfriend); John Jones (DOC); Nicole Parra (DOC); Lisa Wiley (DOC); Jennifer Sagle (DOC); and Dr. Michael Gamache (neuropsychologist).

13384-13427) and (2) an Order finding Mr. Diaz is not Mentally Retarded. (PCR. 13715-34).

A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 3, 2011. (PCR. 13946).

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### A. Transition from the Public Defender to Private Counsel.

When Assistant Public Defender Ken Garber was appointed to the case, he was faced with the fact that his client brought a gun to the Shaw residence and shot Charles Shaw in plain view of his disabled wife in the privacy of their bedroom. At the 2010 evidentiary hearing, Garber explained his thinking as to the investigation and theory of the case:

Theory of defense was basically the issue of Mr. Diaz's state of mind at the time of the incidence. **The theory basically being that he—this wasn't a premeditated murder**, that it was—that it was a second degree murder, and that his intent in—that the reason he went to the Shaw house that morning was to try to talk to his girlfriend, Lissa, to find out why she had broken up with him recently, and that things went bad while he was there.

(Vol. 93, 24)(emphasis added). To that end, Garber began a thorough investigation of the State's case and the crime scene: he personally reviewed the evidence (PCR. 3674; DE 47); went to the Shaw home where the shooting took place; obtained color copies of Lee County Sheriff's Office (LCSO) photographs (PCR. 3410; DE 3); and conducted numerous depositions. (Vol. 93, 21-24, 147).

Garber testified that he was particularly interested in the Florida Department

of Law Enforcement (FDLE) reports establishing that his client's DNA was found in blood droplets throughout the home and under Charles Shaw's fingernails. (Vol. 93, 50-51; PCR. 3436-56; DE 13, 17, 18). Garber thought the FDLE reports were important because they corroborated Joel Diaz's theory of defense that (1) he was retreating when Shaw hit him in the face and, (2) he went to the home to try to understand why Lissa Shaw broke up with him. The photographs showed blood droplets on papers and on the desk in Lissa Shaw's bedroom. (Vol. 93, 43-51). The DNA found in the deceased's fingernail scrapings could corroborate that Charles Shaw hit Joel Diaz in the face. (PCR. 3426-28; DE 9). Garber intended to call the analyst, Darren Esposito, as a witness. (Vol. 93, 52-58).

Garber testified that his client was quiet and he was not sure "whether [Joel Diaz] was just an introvert or whether he really understood what was going on." (Vol. 93, 31). Garber had some concerns about his client's intelligence and state of mind at the time of the crime so he had Dr. Paul Kling appointed to evaluate him. (Vol. 93, 31-33, 37). Dr. Kling issued his first report on May 28, 1998 after interviewing the client several times, administering some psychological testing, reviewing records, and meeting with Esperanza Reyes Diaz (mother) and Minerva Diaz (sister). (PCR. 3415-20; DE 6). Dr. Kling reported that Joel Diaz had a "serious illness as an infant," that he was depressed and had a bad temper, and that according to the sister, there was a "significant family history for sexual abuse,

physical abuse, violence, anger, legal problems, and alcoholism." (PCR. 3418). Dr. Kling opined that Joel Diaz suffered from anxiety and depression but that he was "competent at the time of the alleged offenses." (PCR. 3419). Dr. Kling wrote in his report that he did not have sufficient information at that time to find that Joel Diaz was "under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (PCR. 3419-20).

Garber attempted to negotiate a plea but his client was never "on board." (Vol. 93, 66). Garber was concerned that sympathy for Barbara Shaw could operate as a "non-statutory aggravator" and result in a death sentence. (Vol. 93, 66-67). Garber has been a trial lawyer for 32 years and has tried six to eight capital cases through the penalty phase (Vol. 93, 17); he knew it was important to prepare a social history in anticipation of a penalty phase. Any mitigation that might humanize his client is a factor. Garber has had clients who did not want mitigation presented but he gathered records anyway. (Vol. 93, 68-70).

Garber obtained police reports from the Ft. Myers Police Department (FMPD) that documented the history of domestic violence in the Diaz home. (Vol. 93, 70-77; DE 34). Garber also interviewed family members, (Vol. 93, 80-82;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Mr. Diaz's father is Jose DeJesus Diaz aka Estanislado Reynoso aka Jesus Ramez Diaz aka Chewy. (PCR. 3475; DE 32). On November 14, 1992, the police arrested Jose Diaz for battery after a domestic dispute with his brother, Joel Diaz. (PCR. 3481). On June 4, 1994, the police arrested Estanislado Reynoso for aggravated assault with a knife after an argument about him being intoxicated. Joel Diaz's

PCR. 3472-73; DE 31), and obtained his client's school records<sup>7</sup> and birth certificate. (Vol. 93, 78-80; PCR. 3500-3615; DE 35). Garber always gets school records in capital cases. (Vol. 93, 78-80). Former Assistant Public Defender Melodee Smith was assisting Garber in exploring mitigation for their client. (Vol. 93, 59-60, 83-84). To that end, Smith sought and obtained the appointment of two additional mental health professionals: Lucy Ortiz, L.C.S.W, a bilingual advocate for victims of domestic violence based in the agricultural town of Immokalee, Florida, and Dr. Ricardo Rivas, a psychiatrist who specialized in domestic violence. (PCR. 3642-43; DE 41, 42).

During the course of his pre-trial preparation, Garber sent Dr. Kling additional documents in an effort to gather support for mitigation. (Vol. 93, 31-42; PCR. 3425-

mother, Esperanza, and brother, Jose Jr., are listed as the victims. (PCR. 3484-85). On May 20, 1998, the police took a report from a man who accused Reynoso of hitting him on the head with a baseball bat and threatening him with a knife. (PCR. 3466-67). On October 4, 1996, Reynoso was arrested for disorderly intoxication and possession of marijuana. (PCR. 3495-96).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The school records show that Joel Diaz failed kindergarten (PCR. 3523), and second grade. (PCR. 3520). The records also show that the school district identified Mr. Diaz as a migrant student. (PCR. 3608-09). The school records indicate that Mr. Diaz was seen at the Lee County Health Department. Those records were destroyed in 2001 but they would have been available to trial counsel had he sought to obtain them. (PCR. 9128; DE 134).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The birth certificate shows that Mr. Diaz was born at his mother's residence in McAllen, Texas on June 13, 1973. There is a box to check who attended the birth: an MD, a DO, a midwife, or other. The box checked is other and the attendant is listed as Dominga Hernandez Reyes (maternal grandmother). (PCR. 3509).

28; DE 8, 9). With the benefit of more information surrounding the events leading up to the crime, Dr. Kling changed his mind and determined that Joel Diaz was "probably not competent at the time of the alleged offense." (PCR. 3429; DE 10). Dr. Kling further found that the crime was not premeditated, and that the he met the criterion to support a finding that the "capital offense was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance." (PCR. 3430; DE 10). But, by the time Dr. Kling issued his second report on March 30, 1999, Ken Garber was no longer on the case.

Mr. Diaz had difficulty trusting his lawyer; Garber told the circuit court that his client's perception of the facts struck him as odd. Garber thought that getting the FDLE report that showed that the blood droplets belonged to Mr. Diaz was a positive development in the case. But, Mr. Diaz saw it differently; he was upset because he thought that Garber needed outside evidence before he believed Mr. Diaz's version as to how the crime occurred. (Vol. 93, 60). The relationship took turn for the worse and Mr. Diaz had another jail inmate draft a motion to have the Public Defender removed from his case. (Vol. 93, 60-63).

On February 1, 1999, Ken Garber sent a letter to Frank Porter letting him know that he could pick up copies of discovery and deposition transcripts and inviting him to review his personal file in case Porter wanted copies. (Vol. 93, 61-63; PCR. 335-37; DE 21). The letter noted that he had to keep the color

photographs of the crime scene. Garber testified that he kept his personal notes and work product in his file but made them available to trial counsel. (Vol. 93, 61-63). Porter never took him up on the offer (Vol. 93, 65); he did not review Garber's personal work file, nor did he have copies of the LCSO crime scene photographs, the police reports documenting a history of domestic violence in the Diaz home, school records of his client, or hand-written notes summarizing interviews with family members—all of which remained in Garber's original trial file until the postconviction evidentiary hearing. (Vol. 95, 397-99). Porter never saw any of the records. (Vol. 95, 403-06). Porter never went to the crime scene or the evidence room nor did he conduct independent interviews with respect to the guilt phase. (Vol. 95, 399-401). Porter's entire original trial file was placed into evidence; a review of that filed reveals that the copies of police reports, discovery, and depositions are mostly intact, with few notes indicating that they had even been reviewed. (PCR. 5617-8047; DE 80).

Three weeks later, Garber sent another letter to Porter informing him that he had previously subpoenaed analyst Darren Esposito for trial because the FDLE reports showed that Joel Diaz had been in many areas of the Shaw home. (PCR. 3461; DE 22). The letter also noted that the LCSO photos also supported Garber's original defense theory. Garber testified that he sent the letter because trial counsel had not made contact with him about the case. (Vol. 93, 63-64).

#### **B.** The Guilt Phase

Trial counsel presented a quasi-insanity/self-defense theory and knew he had to show the crime was not premeditated. (Vol. 95, 348-49). Porter filed a notice of intent to rely on the insanity defense on July 19, 1999, (R. 32-33), because it was his "best and probably only chance of success." (Vol. 95, 349). He decided on the insanity defense because Dr. Kling found that Mr. Diaz was insane at the time of the offense, and that was the "only thing we had to hang our hat on." (Vol. 95, 349).

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