IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOEL DIAZ,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-949 Lower Tribunal NO. 97-3305CF DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The postconviction court properly denied Appellant's claim that juror committed misconduct during voir dire purposefully lying or failing to disclose personal and professional information. Contrary to Appellant's allegations, the juror did not give any false answers during voir dire and she was not required to volunteer unsolicited information about herself. Additionally, Diaz's claim that the State violated Brady by failing to disclose a potential juror's arrest without merit as the lower court properly found that the potential juror's arrest was not evidence that was favorable to the defense because it was either exculpatory or impeaching, was not suppressed by the State, nor was Diaz prejudiced as a result. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the postconviction court's denial of the instant claim.

Diaz's numerous claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt and penalty phases of his trial are without merit and were properly denied by the lower court. Diaz claims that guilt phase counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce DNA evidence regarding Diaz's blood being found inside the victims' home, but this evidence was not relevant to his insanity defense. Diaz also failed to establish deficient performance and prejudice based on trial counsel's failure to interview and

present testimony from Diaz's friend, Melissa McKemy. The lower found that McKemy's testimony included court negative information that would be prejudicial to Diaz and it was also cumulative to other evidence presented. Trial counsel was also not ineffective in preparing his expert for the insanity defense testimony or for introducing his expert's written reports into evidence and then failing to object when the State introduced their expert's written report into evidence. Likewise, the lower court properly denied Diaz's claim that his penalty phase counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present mitigating evidence. Diaz and his family were uncooperative and Diaz did not want negative information presented to the jury. Penalty phase counsel presented mental mitigation from their retained expert at the guilt phase and were not ineffective for relying on this testimony for the penalty phase. postconviction court also found that, had penalty phase counsel acted as alleged by Diaz, there was not a reasonable probability of a different outcome. Because Diaz failed to carry his burden of establishing both deficient performance and prejudice, this Court should affirm the lower court's order.

Lastly, the court properly found that Diaz failed to carry his burden of establishing by clear and convincing evidence that he was mentally retarded. After hearing testimony from a number

of mental health experts and lay witnesses, the trial court made credibility determinations that the defense experts' opinions and test results were not credible. The court found that Diaz failed to establish any of the three requirements for a determination of mental retardation, and because the court's factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court should affirm the lower court's order.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S REGARDING ALLEGED JUROR MISCONDUCT AND CLAIM RELATED CLAIM THAT THESTATE FAILED TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL INFORMATION VIOLATION BRADY INOF MARYLAND, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

first claim on appeal, Diaz argues In his the postconviction court erred in summarily denying his claims that he was deprived of his constitutional right to a fair trial when juror Sherri Williams "lied" during voir dire and "purposefully failed to disclose" personal and professional experiences, including the fact that she had been arrested for domestic violence and battery, and that he should be allowed to interview the jurors based on these allegations. (PCR V5:365-73; V6:458-63). The State responded that the claims should be summarily denied as procedurally barred and without merit. (PCR V7:746-60). Diaz subsequently filed an amended postconviction motion regarding his juror misconduct claim and added an allegation that the State violated Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by failing to disclose the fact that the Lee County State Attorney's Office prosecuted Ms. Williams' case. (PCR V24:2786-95). After conducting a case management conference, Judge Thomas S. Reese issued an order setting an evidentiary hearing on some of Appellant's other postconviction claims, and indicated that a

final order would be forthcoming after the evidentiary hearing. $(PCR\ V25:3037-40)$.

Shortly after issuing the order scheduling the evidentiary hearing, Appellant moved to disqualify Judge Reese and any other Twentieth Judicial Circuit judges because the prosecuting attorney and one of Diaz's defense attorneys were now judges in the circuit. (PCR V25:3041-61). After granting the motion, this Court assigned Judge Charles Roberts from the Twelfth Judicial Circuit to serve as a temporary judge in these proceedings. (PCR V26:3103). After conducting an evidentiary hearing on Appellant's postconviction and mental retardation claims, Judge Roberts issued a detailed order denying Appellant's claims, including the juror misconduct and motion to interview claims, as well as the related Brady claim:

9. As to Claim III, Defendant argues that juror misconduct rendered the outcome of his trial, and his sentence, unreliable, and violated his due process rights. Defendant argues that juror foreperson, Sherri Smith Williams, concealed relevant "personal professional experiences" during voir dire. Specifically, he claims that Ms. Williams stated during voir dire that she was a professor of criminal justice at FGCU, she had been the victim of a home invasion robbery and had sought an injunction in the public However, through records, Defendant subsequently learned that Ms. Williams tauqht domestic violence course in 1998, she "has been a domestic violence counselor," she has "participated in events on behalf of battered women;" she interned for the department of corrections in another state; she has been a "Certified Domestic Violence Trainer for Health Care Professionals;" and she failed to disclose

her 1999 arrest for domestic battery or her completion of a diversion program. Finally, Defendant argues that the State had constructive knowledge of Ms. Williams' arrest, such that the State's failure to disclose it constituted a Brady violation. . . .

10. Information is considered concealed for purposes of testing juror misconduct concealment of information where the information is squarely asked for and not provided. Wiggins v. Sadow, 925 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). In order to establish juror concealment, the moving party must demonstrate, among other things, that the voir dire question was straightforward and not reasonably susceptible to misinterpretation. See Tran v. Smith, 823 So. 2d 210 (5th DCA 2002). A potential juror cannot and should not conceal information on voir dire or fail to answer questions completely, but where a juror correctly answers a question, it is counsel's responsibility to inquire further if more information is needed. Ottley v. Kirchharr, 917 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). While the trial court urged the jurors to be candid, the trial court did not require jurors to offer information that was not asked for (Trial transcript pp. 25-27). The panel was asked if anyone had been a victim of a crime (Trial transcript p. 54), if a family or friend had been charged with a crime (Trial transcript p. 58), and whether anyone had restraining order injunction sought a oragainst someone else (Trial transcript p. 136). Neither the panel in general, nor Ms. Williams in particular, were asked if they had been arrested for any crimes or if injunctions or restraining orders had been taken out against them. Defendant has not established that Ms. Williams concealed information during questioning. She was not required to volunteer information, and she truthfully answered all questions she was asked. Court is unable to find any portion of the record in which Ms. Williams stated she could not be neutral and Defendant has not established unbiased. that domestic violence related information was material to Ms. Williams' service on the jury for a murder trial. While the issue of domestic violence between Defendant and his girlfriends was raised at trial, any such episodes were tangential to the jury's determination of whether Defendant murdered the victim, Mr. Defendant's assertions that Ms. Williams was biased against Defendant or had some hidden agenda are mere speculation. Defendant has failed to demonstrate that juror misconduct occurred.

11. Defendant has failed to point to any specific question(s) that Ms. Williams failed to answer fully or truthfully. Instead, he appears to argue that it was Ms. Williams' responsibility to offer unsolicited, additional information about herself during voir dire and, when she failed to do so, the State had an obligation to inform the defense. To establish a Brady defendant violation, а must show: (1)evidence favorable to the accused, because it is either exculpatory or impeaching; (2) that the evidence was suppressed by the State, either willfully inadvertently; and (3) that prejudice ensued. Guzman v. State, 868 So. 2d 498, 508 (Fla. 2003). . . . evidentiary hearing, Maria Gonzalez, prosecuted this case, testified that she and the defense got the jury list on the morning of selection, as the jury panel was brought in (June evidentiary hearing transcript p. 279). She further testified that she had no knowledge at that time that Ms. Williams had been arrested for domestic violence, a diversion program prior had completed to selection in which the charges were dropped, or any of information subsequently discovered other defense counsel about Ms. Williams current (June evidentiary hearing transcript p. 279). Accordingly, this testimony refutes Defendant's allegations that the State had knowledge of this information. The State could not disclose information it did not possess. Even if the State is imputed with this knowledge, these issues were not material to Ms. Williams' service on the jury a murder trial, for information Ms. Williams gave was not false, information was not favorable to the Defendant, there is no prejudice since this information does not undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. See Guzman, 868 So. 2d at 505-508. The Court finds no . . . Brady violation[] occurred on this issue. Therefore, Claim III is DENIED.

12. As to Claim IV, Defendant argues that Florida Rule of Professional Responsibility 4-3.5(d)(4) is unconstitutional because it prohibits defense counsel from interviewing jurors in violation of Defendant's equal protection rights. Similar constitutional

challenges to Florida Rule of Professional Responsibility 4-3.5(d)(4) have repeatedly been rejected. See Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218, 1224 (Fla. 2001); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000). Based on that authority, the Court finds Rule constitutional. Further, this claim procedurally barred. A similar postconviction claim was raised in Arbelaez. The Florida Supreme Court upheld the denial of postconviction relief, finding that the claim was procedurally barred because any "claims relating to Arbelaez's inability to interview jurors should and could have been raised on direct appeal." Id. at 920. Therefore, Claim IV is DENIED.

(PCR V84:13389-92) (emphasis added). The State submits that the postconviction court properly denied Appellant's claims related to alleged juror misconduct.¹

The crux of Appellant's juror misconduct claim is based on the faulty premise that juror Williams lied or failed to

the faulty premise that juror Williams lied or failed to

lathough the lower court addressed Appellant's juror misconduct claim on the merits and did not find it procedurally barred, this Court has consistently held that such claims are procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings as claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 838 (Fla. 2011); Elledge v. State, 911 So. 2d 57, 77 n.27 (Fla. 2005). The court properly found Diaz's juror interview claim procedurally barred. See Johnston v. State, 63 So. 3d 730, 739-40 (Fla. 2011); Spencer v. State, 842 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2003); Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 216 (Fla. 2002); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 2000); Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553, 555 n.5 (Fla. 1999).

This Court applies a mixed standard of review to the court's denial of the instant claims. For example, this Court has noted that Brady claims present mixed questions of law and fact. Sochor v. State, 883 So. 2d 766, 785 (Fla. 2004). As to findings of fact, this Court defers to the lower court's findings if they are supported by competent, substantial evidence, and reviews the trial court's application of the law to the facts de novo. Hurst v. State, 18 So. 3d 975, 988 (Fla. 2009).

disclose information during voir dire. However, contrary to Appellant's assertions, and as the lower court properly found after reviewing the transcript of the voir dire proceedings, juror Williams never "lied" or gave "false responses" to any questions from the court or counsel during voir dire. Additionally, the court noted that Williams had no obligation to offer unsolicited, additional information about herself during voir dire.

Appellant's allegation that juror Williams purposefully lied or failed to disclose information regarding her domestic violence arrest is simply without merit. As the record clearly demonstrates, none of the jurors were ever asked if they had ever been arrested or been subject to any legal proceedings. At the outset of voir dire, the trial judge preliminarily informed the venire that the attorneys would be asking them questions, and if any member of the panel felt embarrassed by a question, they could come up to the bench to discuss the matter out of the hearing of the panel. The judge stated that this was quite common, "especially if somebody has ever been charged with a case and you're reluctant to say anything." (DAR V1:T.26-27). After his initial instructions, the trial judge questioned the venire and stated that the attorneys "want to know whether you've sat on a jury before in a civil or criminal case," or if

"any member of the jury had been a victim of a crime." (DAR V1:T.29-30). Based on this question, juror Williams informed the court that she had been the victim of a home invasion and had fired a weapon during the incident. (DAR V1:T.54, 107). The trial judge also asked the panel whether "any member of your family or a close friend [has] been charged with a crime other than a parking ticket or minor traffic offense." (DAR V1:T.58). As a result of this question, a number of potential jurors discussed how their family members had been charged with crimes. (DAR V1:58-68). Only one potential juror, Mr. Shelton, revealed in front of the entire panel that he had a prior record:

JUROR SHELTON: I have a son's who doing time in Kentucky for transportation of narcotics or whatever. I'm not sure what it's called, but he had drugs and wasn't supposed to.

THE COURT: All right. Do you feel he was fairly treated by law enforcement?

JUROR SHELTON: He did the crime, he's got to do the time.

THE COURT: Is that going to have any bearing on your ability to be objective and impartial on this case?

JUROR SHELTON: No sir. I was convicted of a Class C felony 25 years ago and I did the crime and I did my time and I never served any prison time, but I did my probation, paid restitution. I feel that I have lived up to the obligations that the Court has and they erased it I guess from my record because I'm allowed to vote and everything.

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